
AMENDMENT #1: 2022-31021A AMATA ONCOLOGY CENTER FEASIBILITY STUDY 

POC: Anna Amaya, USTDA, 1101 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 1100, Arlington, VA 22209-3901,           
Tel: (703) 875-4357, Fax: (703) 775-4037, Email: RFP@ustda.gov.

Please note that the Request for Proposals (RFP) for the AMATA Oncology Center Feasibility 
Study is amended, as follows: Questions, Answers and Clarifications:  

Questions, Answers and Clarifications: This amendment consists of clarifying questions and 
answers submitted by potential Offerors regarding the RFP packet. Responses to submitted 
questions are attached. 

Q1: Does AMATA and/or USTDA have previously developed market data or studies that 
will be shared with the selected contractor?  

Yes, the mentioned IQVIA study and others will be shared with the selected U.S. contractor 
during Task 1: Information Gathering, Work Plan, and Kick-off Meeting. 

Q2: What is the definition of a U.S. supplier?  

i. A privately owned firm or partnership that is formed, incorporated or organized in the U.S.,
with its principal place of business in the U.S., and which is:

a. More than fifty percent (50%) owned by U.S. citizens and/or non-U.S. citizens
lawfully admitted for permanent residence in the United States; or
b. Satisfies each of the following criteria:

(I) Has been incorporated or organized in the U.S. for more than three (3) years
prior to the issuance date of the request for proposals;

(II) Has performed similar services in the U.S. for that three (3) year period;

(III) Employs U.S. citizens in more than half of its permanent full-time positions
in the U.S.; and

(IV) Has the existing capability in the U.S. to perform the work in question; or

ii. A nonprofit organization that is incorporated in the U.S. and managed by a governing body, a
majority of whose members are U.S. citizens and/or non-U.S. citizens lawfully admitted for
permanent residence in the United States

Q3: Does AMATA intend to only engage U.S. suppliers for the center’s equipment needs? 

This is subject to the project partner’s conditions. 
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Q4: Will the selected contractor have access to the pre-feasibility study assessment 
conducted by IQVIA? If yes, when?  
 
Yes, AMATA will share during Task 1: Information Gathering, Work Plan, and Kick-off 
Meeting.  

 
Q5: Is there an architecture firm (local to the region) that is already engaged with the 
Meditown development and could be used by the contractor for some of the requirements? 
If yes, will this firm be the sole design firm involved after the feasibility study?  
 
AMATA does not have a specific designer for the project yet. The selection of firm after the 
completion of the Study will be subject to the project partner’s condition.  

 
Q6: Per page 21: “Contractor will work with the architectural firm to define the clinical 
program… the architect will develop the space program.” If there is already a regional 
architecture firm onboarded to the project, are you expecting that firm to complete the 
space program and conceptual site/floor/rendering plans, or can/should the contactor 
onboard a U.S. architecture firm to assist with those tasks?  
 
AMATA does not have a specific designer for the project yet.  

 
Q7: If the contractor includes a U.S. architecture firm as part of the team, would the U.S. 
architecture firm assisting with the feasibility study have the opportunity to bid on the 
project services following the feasibility study?  
 
Yes.  

 
Q8: Will an existing site plan with projects to date be supplied? 
 
Yes.  

 
Q9: Is there an online resource with information regarding local/regional (hospital) 
building codes, including for site expectations, that you can provide?  
 
Yes, AMATA will share during Task 1: Information Gathering, Work Plan, and Kick-off 
Meeting.  

 
Q10: Given the impact of COVID-19 on supply chains, resources, and staff, do you have a 
resource document summarizing current local labor levels and construction costs?  
 
Yes, AMATA can share during Task 1: Information Gathering, Work Plan, and Kick-off 
Meeting. 
 
 
 



Q11: May RFP respondents request access to the comprehensive master plan and any 
additional information to appropriately formulate our responses?  
 
AMATA can share this information during Task 1: Information Gathering, Work Plan, and Kick-
off Meeting. 
Q12: What will be the preferred system of measurement, Metric and/or Imperial, for 
documents and deliverables? The RFP mentions Square Meters.   

 
The Metric system is the generally accepted unit of measurement.  
 
Q13: Can you confirm English-only language on all documents?  

 
Yes, this is confirmed.  
 
Q14: Items such as engaging potential partners, suppliers, investors, and tax assessments 
are not usually part of typical feasibility analysis and we also understand the client 
“AMATA” is currently engaging potential investor parties and partners – to what level of 
detail and intent should respondents incorporate such tasks?  Should respondents assume 
these deliverables be at feasibility level only to identify cost and time impact and a detailed 
analysis will be conducted in future, outside the scope of this project, to finalize such 
partners? 

 
The Feasibility Study should lay out possible options for financing, etc., but not to have any sort 
of final or definitive answer. Taxes do need to be included in order to generate accurate financial 
pro forma’s.  

 

Q15: Level of detail expected: Tasks and underlined subtasks such as a marketing plan, 
investment plan, recruitment plan, local tax assessments, financing plan, identifying 
sources of financing, partner outreach (including contacting and engaging them) etc. often 
require engagement of specialized consultants that typically reach beyond the feasibility 
phase. Can we assume that these deliverables would require only feasibility level of analysis 
to assess major cost, time, and process impact?   

 
These should all be included in the Feasibility Study at least at a preliminary level. The proposed 
budget does allow for some utilization of specialized consultants. 

 

Q16: There are several stipulations that refer to “including but not limited to”, which 
would mean there is an open-ended scope. Is it appropriate to assume our timeline, 
workplan, and deliverables will directly respond to the RFP? Additionally, should 
respondents outline other potential foreseen tasks to address the “including but not limited 
to” clauses within subtasks?  

 
Yes, the language was to give the selected U.S. contractor some flexibility in adding to the 
various tasks as they see fit. If the U.S. contractor sees other tasks not included, these should be 
noted. 



Q17: Timeline: There are a total of 16 major tasks identified, with most activities requiring 
a 7 day comment period and 7 day response period.  Is your expectation to complete the 
feasibility study project within six months or less? What are your expectations regards to 
managing timeline expectations when external parties are involved (vendors, potential 
partners and investors) is it acceptable to assume that the study and deliverables will be at 
least 6 full months for a complete study? Or, is the client expecting a more aggressive 
timeline with some tasks and approvals running concurrently to consolidate the timeline?  

 
For a Study of this type, we would normally expect that it could be completed in approximated 
120 to 150 days. Anything in excess of this should be mutually agreed upon by AMATA and the 
U.S. contractor.  
 
Q18: Under 3.6 Experience and Qualifications, it mentions “The Offeror shall include 
letters of commitment from the individual’s proposal confirm their availability for the 
contract performance” – is this required just for subcontractors on our team or for each 
proposed team member inside our firm? If required for all team members is one letter with 
all signatures from the team acceptable?   

 
This refers to the U.S. contractor’s company as a whole and all subcontracting entities.  
 
Q19: With regards to the site plan, does a topographic site analysis that we can have access 
to in order to site the project at feasibility level – we anticipate that this would also be 
required for environmental impact statement. 

 
As noted, the site survey and soils testing are typically the responsibility of the owner to provide. 
The Environment Impact should not just look at the specific site; it should also take into account 
any environmental impacts from the nature of the proposed business/facility itself. For instance, 
water needs, use of incinerators, handling of waste material, and nuclear isotopes used, etc. 

Q20: Task 5 - Equipment List with Preliminary cost estimate: We assume-level of analysis 
feasibility will be acceptable based on the most commonly adopted practices. Typically, 
equipment planning is not done during feasibility, but we would like to confirm that 
equipment costs as a percentage of construction costs is acceptable.  

Equipment list should be a preliminary list and cost of equipment, not just a percentage of 
construction costs. These are not formal quotes at this point, but should include approximate 
costs by each hospital department, for example surgery, imaging, laboratory, nursing units, 
intensive care, etc. This should also take into account which items may be procured via U.S. 
manufacturers. 

Q21: Task 6 - US Sources of supply assessment: Typically, Sources of Supply assessment 
does not occur at the feasibility level. We assume procurement at this level of detail will 
occur in the final year, 3 years from project start. Can USTDA + AMATA clarify to what 
desired intent you’d like to have this level of detail?  

This should address at a general level what supplies can be acquired via U.S. suppliers, such as 
pharmaceuticals, medical supplies, certain high-tech products, etc. 



Q22: Task 7 – Preliminary Staffing Plan: Potential partners may consider their staffing 
plans as their intellectual property and may not be willing to share the details.  We will 
propose preliminary staffing plans based on our experience at feasibility level; would that 
be acceptable? 

Preliminary staffing plans are necessary in order to develop an estimate of operating costs for the 
facility. These may need to be refined over time but should be included. 

 
Q23: Task 9 – Financial Analysis: We are assuming costs for local taxes, withholding taxes, 
tax credits, payroll taxes, legal fees, and custom duty will be provided by the client.  Please 
confirm. 

 
AMATA can provide basic info on with holding taxes, tariffs and customs, duties, local taxes, 
etc. 

Q24: Task 9.2 - Identify sources of Financing – To what level of specificity is AMATA 
expecting sources of financing. Would this be based on typical operator financial models at 
hypothetical feasibility level?   

The Feasibility Study should identify possible financing sources and/or investors.  The U.S. 
contractor should be able to provide some introductions as well.  One of the sub-products of the 
Feasibility Study should be an Investment Business Plan, which AMATA can then share with 
potential investors. 

Q25: Task 10 – Cancer Center Clinical partner outreach Assessment: We assume 
partnerships can be formed in many ways and need to be developed per partner(s). Our 
team will respond to this task completely, but to gauge approximate costs and timeline it is 
recommended we receive additional clarification of identified potential partners from the 
client and to what level of detail the client is expecting clinical partner outreach.   

This is a joint effort between AMATA and the U.S. contractor. AMATA will share information 
on everyone they have engaged with and what they are looking for in a clinical partner.  

Q26: Task 11 – Preliminary Environmental and social impact: With regards to regulatory 
review, we anticipate we will converse and collaborate with AMATA in-house counsel 
regarding local Thai regulations. Our team also anticipates facilitating conversations with 
local authorities to understand Thai regulations with AMATA. Additionally, at this 
feasibility level, we do not anticipate on providing legal advice or a legal partner at this 
time but will outline broad requirements as it impacts the timeline and costs at feasibility 
level. Please confirm if this is acceptable to the client. 

Again, this will be a joint effort between AMATA and the U.S. contractor. AMATA is familiar 
with the legal requirements in Thailand and will help the U.S. contractor access the most 
accurate information. Additional legal information or legal partners should not be necessary at 
this time. 

 



Q27: On the architectural design required within the Feasibility Study scope of work: 

a. Is this conceptual design or is it any additional level of design; 

The Terms of Reference is intended to address the conceptual design and space 
program. 

b. Is it for the hospital and surrounding space or for the entire larger complex? 

This is for the oncology center.  

Q28: Is the number of beds set at 150-200 or still flexible based upon the 
results/recommendations of the Feasibility Study? 

For the Feasibility Study, the U.S. contractor should make a recommendation based upon the 
market assessment. 

Q29: With regard to references, do you require these to be from similar projects or are 
other client references also applicable? 

Comparable projects in the international marketplace would be best.  
 
 
 
 


